**RECEIVED**

**Feb 20 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Martha M. Rivers

---

Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-40-03510  
Appellate Case No. 2024-001963

---

Sherman and Claudia Howell, .....Respondents,

v.

D.R. Horton, Inc., .....Appellant.

AND

D.R. Horton, Inc., .....Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

Jenkins Plumbing Company, LLC, Caryl  
Mechanicals II, Inc., L&M Electric, Inc.,  
Unique Stone Creations, M&L General  
Construction, Inc., Alpha Omega Construction  
Group, Inc., and ASC Services and Supply, Inc., .....Third-Party Defendants.

---

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The circuit court erred by not applying the Federal Arbitration Act and federal law to determine whether the parties' dispute should be arbitrated, and by misunderstanding the meaning of "interstate commerce," the notice requirements of the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, and the law of arbitrability thereunder.
2. The circuit court erred by ruling that the parties' agreement to arbitrate was unconscionable and unenforceable by relying on the "fiction" that the arbitration agreement contained provisions outside the four corners of the agreement.
3. The circuit court erred by ruling that the parties' obligations under their contract for the construction and purchase of a new home should be ignored by misapplying the doctrine of merger from the law of real estate.

## INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December 2021, Sherman and Claudia Howell purchased their home at 564 Pine Knot Drive, Blythewood, South Carolina (the “Home”) from D.R. Horton, Inc. (hereinafter “D.R. Horton”). On June 10, 2024, the Howells filed suit against D.R. Horton alleging defective construction of their Home. (Compl. ¶ 8.) As part of their purchase, the Howells entered into an agreement with D.R. Horton (the “Home Purchase Agreement”). (D.R. Horton’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Stay Action & Compel Arbitration Ex. A.) The Home Purchase Agreement contains an arbitration clause. (*Id.* § 15.)

On August 9, 2024, D.R. Horton answered the complaint, denied the Howells’ allegations, and filed a third-party complaint against its implicated subcontractors. (D.R. Horton’s Answer & Third-Party Compl., Aug. 9, 2024.) D.R. Horton’s third-party claims are subject to arbitration pursuant to independent contractor agreements (“ICAs”) between D.R. Horton and its subcontractors. (D.R. Horton’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Stay Action & Compel Arbitration at 3–4 & n.1, Ex. B.)

Concurrently with answering the complaint, D.R. Horton moved pursuant to the Home Purchase Agreement and ICAs to stay the action and compel arbitration. (Mot. Stay Action & Compel Arbitration, Aug. 9, 2024.) The lower court heard D.R. Horton’s motion to compel arbitration via WebEx on September 4, 2024. (Transcript.) On October 22, 2024, the lower court denied D.R. Horton’s motion to compel arbitration. (Order, Oct. 22, 2024.) D.R. Horton filed a Notice of Appeal on November 15, 2024. (Notice of Appeal.) This appeal followed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In December 2021, Sherman and Claudia Howell entered into the Home Purchase Agreement with D.R. Horton to purchase the Home, located in Richland County. As part of the Home Purchase Agreement, the Howells and D.R. Horton agreed to arbitrate any and all disputes related to construction of the Home. (Home Purchase Agreement § 15.) The Howells signed the Home Purchase Agreement and specifically initialed the arbitration provision. (Home Purchase Agreement at 7, 11.)

The entirety of the arbitration provision provides as follows:

**Mandatory binding arbitration.** Purchaser and seller shall submit to binding arbitration any and all disputes which may arise between them regarding this agreement and/or the property, including but not limited to any disputes regarding: (a) seller's construction and delivery of the house; (b) seller's performance under any punch list or inspection agreement; and (c) the limited warranty pursuant to section 14 above.

The arbitration shall take place in the county in which the property is located.

The proceeding shall be conducted pursuant to the rules of the American Arbitration Association and, to the extent possible, under rules which provide for an expedited hearing.

The filing fee for the arbitration shall be paid by the party filing the arbitration demand, but the arbitrator shall have the right to assess or allocate the filing fees and any other costs of the arbitration as a part of the arbitrator's final order.

The arbitration shall be binding and final, and either party shall have the right to seek judicial enforcement of the arbitration award.

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, any disputes arising under the limited warranty shall be mediated, arbitrated and/or judicially resolved pursuant to the terms, conditions, procedures and rules of the limited warranty.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, seller shall have the right to interplead all or any part of the earnest money into a court of competent jurisdiction as provided for in section 4 herein.

(D.R. Horton’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Stay Action & Compel Arbitration Ex. A, § 15 (formatting altered).)<sup>1</sup>

The Howells filed this lawsuit complaining of defects in the construction of their Home and damages related to the same. The Howells allege that certain components, including but not limited to the second floor i-joists, roof, roof flashing, roof trusses, siding, and stone veneer exterior, were not constructed in accordance with applicable building codes and construction industry standards. (Compl. ¶ 8; *see* Compl. ¶ 17; *see also, e.g.*, Compl. ¶¶ 45–46.) The Howells also allege certain claims regarding fraud and misrepresentation related to the alleged defects in the Home. (Compl. ¶¶ 12–43.) Every cause of action asserted by the Howells arises out of the construction of the Home.

Cause of Action	Basis of Allegation
Negligence/Gross Negligence	“In failing to properly construct the [Home] by deviating from the plans and specifications and/or failing to employ practices and methods of construction conforming to the customary and ordinary standards of the construction industry,” (Compl. ¶ 46(a)).
Breach of Express and Implied Warranties	Express and implied warranties that the Home would be free of construction defects, (Compl. ¶¶ 49–50).  “In failing to properly construct the [Home] by deviating from the plans and specifications and/or failing to employ practices and methods of construction conforming to the customary and ordinary standards of the construction industry,” (Compl. ¶ 51(a)).
Breach of Contract	“Defendant [D.R. Horton] breached the Contract by failing to construct the [Home] consistent with the terms of the Contract, including, but not limited to, constructing the [Home] as specified and in compliance with the International Residential Code.” (Compl. ¶ 58.)

---

<sup>1</sup> The arbitration agreement cited in briefing to the trial court contained minor typographical errors and an additional sentence that is not in the parties’ arbitration agreement. These errors, none of which impacted the substance of Defendant’s argument, have been corrected here.

<p>Violation of Unfair Trade Practices</p>	<p>“[T]he following practices of Defendant [D.R. Horton] are unfair and deceptive in the trade of construction services and are unlawful: Marketing the [Home] with construction and/or design defects as top-quality knowing that the homes had construction and/or design defects,” (Compl. ¶ 69(a)).</p>
<p>Breach of Contract Accompanied by Fraudulent Act</p>	<p>“Defendant [D.R. Horton] breached the Contract by failing to construct the [Home] consistent with the terms of the Contract, including, but not limited to, constructing the [Home] as specified and in compliance with the International Residential Code.” (Compl. ¶ 76.)</p> <p>“Defendant [D.R. Horton] had a fraudulent intent in entering into the Contract, as the Defendant [D.R. Horton] knew or had reason to know that the [Home] did not comply with the specifications and the International Building Code at the time that the [Home] was transferred to the Plaintiffs.” (Compl. ¶ 77.)</p>
<p>Constructive Fraud</p>	<p>“Defendant [D.R. Horton] represented to the Plaintiffs that it builds top-quality homes in accordance with specifications and the International Building Code.” (Compl. ¶ 81.)</p> <p>“Defendant [D.R. Horton] should have known that these representations were false, in that the Defendant [D.R. Horton] knew that its subcontractors cut the i-joint in at least one home without following the specifications and the International Building Code and the same subcontractors completed the construction of the remaining homes in the Community.” (Compl. ¶ 83.)</p>
<p>Fraud and Misrepresentation</p>	<p>“Defendant [D.R. Horton] represented that it builds top-quality homes in accordance with specifications and the International Building Code to the Plaintiffs.” (Compl. ¶ 91.)</p> <p>“Defendant [D.R. Horton] knew or had reckless disregard for the truth or falsity of these representations, in that the Defendant [D.R. Horton] knew that its subcontractors cut the i-joint in at least one home without following the specifications and the International Building Code and the same subcontractors completed the construction of the remaining homes in the Community.” (Compl. ¶ 94.)</p>

Because all the Howells' claims arise out of the construction of the Home, these disputes should be submitted to binding arbitration pursuant to the Home Purchase Agreement.<sup>2</sup>

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews legal conclusions about arbitrability de novo. *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 22, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667 (2007). The trial court's factual findings are reviewed under an "any evidence" standard and will be reversed only if no evidence "reasonably supports" them. *Id.*

However, the underlying facts of this case are not in dispute. The trial court's decision hinged on its interpretation and application of relevant law. Therefore, this Court is free to correct the lower court's errors without deference to the trial court's opinion.

### ARGUMENTS

The lower court improperly denied D.R. Horton's motion to compel arbitration based on its erroneous rulings that (1) the Federal Arbitration Act does not apply to the Home Purchase Agreement; (2) the arbitration agreement is unconscionable; and (3) the merger doctrine merged the arbitration agreement out of existence upon transfer of title to the Home to the Howells.

---

<sup>2</sup> Notably, D.R. Horton did not perform the allegedly defective construction complained of by Plaintiffs. That work was completed by D.R. Horton's subcontractors pursuant to ICAs, each of which contained its own arbitration provision. (Mem. Supp. Mot. Stay Action & Compel Arbitration at 3–4 & n.1, Ex. B.) Those agreements stipulate that disputes "shall be submitted to binding arbitration under the [FAA]." (*Id.* at 3 & 4 n.1; *see also id.* Ex. B, § 13.3.) Therefore, arbitration of Plaintiffs' claims is necessary to efficiently resolve the dispute among all parties.

## 1. THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT APPLIES

The Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), 9 U.S.C. §§1–16, applies to this dispute because the parties’ transaction involves interstate commerce, the parties did not agree to arbitrate under different rules, and the FAA preempts relevant state law. The trial court erred in holding otherwise.

The trial court’s analysis largely ignored the FAA, concluding that the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act (“SCUAA”), S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10 -240, applied. The court based its decision on the Home Purchase Agreement’s statement on its first page that it is subject to arbitration under the SCUAA. (Order at 6.) However, this is not a true choice of law provision, nor does it pull the agreement outside of the FAA as a matter of law. That statement is simply the notice required by the SCUAA because the Home is in South Carolina. In any event, to the extent application of the SCUAA would prevent enforcement of a valid arbitration agreement, the FAA preempts the SCUAA.

The FAA applies to any written agreement to arbitrate in a “contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. Courts have interpreted “the words ‘involving commerce’ [as] the functional equivalent of ‘affecting commerce,’ which typically indicates Congress’ intent to exercise its commerce power in full.” *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 591, 553 S.E.2d 110, 115 (2001). Therefore, a dispute is subject to the FAA where there is a written agreement to arbitrate that encompasses it and the transaction at issue relates to foreign or interstate commerce. *See, e.g., Bernstein v. Pulte Home Co.*, No. 0:19-cv-02805-JFA, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 227884, at \*6 (D.S.C. Dec. 23, 2019) (describing when a party can compel arbitration under the FAA).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has repeatedly held that an agreement for the construction of a new home built to a party’s specifications “manifestly involve[s] interstate commerce.” *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 608, 879 S.E.2d 746, 753 (2022).

A party could not construct a new home “with materials, equipment and supplies all produced and manufactured solely within the State of South Carolina.” *Episcopal Housing. Corp. v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 269 S.C. 631, 640, 239 S.E.2d 647, 652 (1977). In contrast, an agreement to purchase an existing, previously constructed house is of an intrastate nature and would not necessarily implicate the FAA. *See Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 456, 730 S.E.2d 312, 316–17 (2012) (discussing the “historical” and “inherently intrastate” nature of real estate transactions). This is because “[c]ontracts strictly for the sale of residential real estate focus entirely on a commodity—the land—which is firmly planted in one particular state.” *Id.* at 457, 730 S.E.2d at 317 (quoting *Saneii v. Robards*, 289 F. Supp. 2d 855, 858 (W.D. Ky. 2003)).

The trial court incorrectly found that the “essential character” of the transaction at issue here was the purchase of a completed building and, therefore, it did not involve interstate commerce. (Order at 6 (quoting *Bradley*, 398 S.C. at 459, 730 S.E.2d at 318).) The record contains no evidence to support this finding, as the Home Purchase Agreement shows that Plaintiffs agreed to pay for the construction of a new home, not the purchase of an existing one.

In *Bradley*, for instance, the court found it crucial that the buyer did not sign portions of the contract dealing with new construction—where the buyer could select additional options and personalize the home. 398 S.C. at 458, 730 S.E.2d at 318. The parties’ contract even included a provision acknowledging “that [the] [p]urchaser [was] buying a completed dwelling and that [the] [s]eller [was] not acting as a contractor for [the] [p]urchaser in the construction of a dwelling.” *Id.* at 450 n.3, 730 S.E.2d at 313 n.3. In contrast, here the Home Purchase Agreement includes an exhibit listing “House Features and Options” selected by Plaintiffs. (Home Purchase Agreement Ex. A.) Plaintiffs selected four pages of optional features, many of which came with an additional cost, totaling \$11,750. (*Id.* at 1–4.) These features included an optional study (\$2,250), (*id.* at 1),

an additional irrigation zone (\$750), (*id.* at 2), a deluxe bath package (\$2,500), (*id.*), blinds (\$1,350), (*id.* at 3), and a covered porch slab (\$4,900), (*id.* at 4). Plaintiffs separately signed for these features. (*Id.* at 5.) Plaintiffs also agreed to remove a glass shower door from the scope of work, which reduced the purchase price by \$1,000. (Home Purchase Agreement Add. 6.)

The Home Purchase Agreement also contains numerous provisions that make sense only in the context of new-home construction. For instance, the contract includes a provision for a walkthrough by the purchaser and D.R. Horton “[a]fter substantial completion of the House but prior to Closing,” after which the parties are to create “a written list of items on the Property that the parties agree should be corrected, repaired or replaced.” (Home Purchase Agreement § 9(d).) The agreement also contains numerous references to the *construction* of a *new* home. (*E.g.*, Home Purchase Agreement § 14(a) (identifying a “WARRANTY FOR NEW HOMES”); *id.* Add. 2, ¶ 1 (“Prior to Closing, Seller *shall construct* or complete construction of a single-family . . . residence . . . on the Lot.” (emphasis added)); *id.* Add. 2, ¶ 2 (“Seller *shall construct the House* according to the Columbia Carolina Plan, Elevation C, including those features and options listed on Exhibit A to the Agreement . . . .” (emphasis altered)); *id.* D.R. Horton Smart Home Disclosure (discussing features of the purchaser’s “*new home*” (emphasis added)).) The Home Purchase Agreement therefore “involved the construction of [a] new home[] built to [Plaintiffs’] specifications,” and the FAA applies. *Damico*, 437 S.C. at 608, 879 S.E.2d at 753.

The trial court also erred in concluding that the parties stipulated that the SCUAA should control this dispute. It is well established that “[p]arties are free to enter into a contract providing for arbitration under rules established by state law rather than rules established by the FAA.” *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 592, 553 S.E.2d at 116. However, Plaintiffs and D.R. Horton did not agree that the SCUAA should apply *to the exclusion of* the FAA.

As the trial court noted, the Home Purchase Agreement acknowledges that disputes are subject to arbitration under the SCUAA. (Order at 6.) That is simply the notice that the SCUAA requires before a dispute *can* be arbitrated under the SCUAA. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(a). The SCUAA notice is not even part of the parties’ agreement, which starts after the notice where the parties state that they “agree *as follows*.” (Home Purchase Agreement at 1 (emphasis added).) In *Toler’s Cove Homeowners Ass’n v. Trident Construction Co.*, the South Carolina Supreme Court interpreted a contract that, like the Home Purchase Agreement, prominently stated it was “subject to arbitration under [the SCUAA].” 355 S.C. 605, 609, 586 S.E.2d 581, 583 (2003) (formatting altered). Nonetheless, the court stated that the agreement did not include a choice of law provision and therefore did not resolve the question of whether the FAA or the SCUAA applied. *Id.* at 610, 586 S.E.2d at 584. The lower court held that the transaction involved interstate commerce and the FAA applied; that ruling was not challenged and therefore was the law of the case. *Id.*

Similarly, in *Mart v. Great Southern Homes, Inc.*, the parties’ agreement stipulated that they would select arbitrators pursuant to the SCUAA. 441 S.C. 304, 307–08, 893 S.E.2d 360, 361–62 (Ct. App. 2023). However, Great Southern Homes (“GSH”) argued that the FAA applied and preempted the SCUAA. *Id.* at 311 n.5, 893 S.E.2d at 363 n.5. In support, GSH presented evidence of the interstate nature of the transaction and pointed to a separate limited warranty that called for arbitration under the FAA. *Id.* The court apparently agreed and analyzed the agreement under the FAA. *Id.* at 313–17 & n.7, 893 S.E.2d at 364–67 & n.7.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> It appears that this point of law may not be entirely settled. The South Carolina Court of Appeals has also found that an agreement with a header stating that the agreement was subject to the SCUAA “contain[ed] more than a generic choice of law provision.” *315 Corley CW LLC v. Palmetto Bluff Dev., LLC*, 444 S.C. 521, 529, 908 S.E.2d 892, 896 (Ct. App. 2024). In that case, the Court held that the SCUAA, not the FAA, applied to the parties’ dispute. *Id.* This opinion

Even if the SCUAA applies, courts are still required to follow the FAA. “[P]arties may agree to enforce arbitration agreements under state rules rather than FAA rules, [but] the FAA will preempt any state law that completely invalidates the parties’ agreement to arbitrate.” *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 592, 553 S.E.2d at 116. Therefore, if the parties so agree, courts will enforce “state *procedural* rules that do not undermine the enforceability of an otherwise valid contract to arbitrate.” *Id.* at 593, 553 S.E.2d at 116 (emphasis added).

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