**RECEIVED**

**Jul 16 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Martha M. Rivers

Case No. 2024-CP-40-03510

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001963

---

Sherman and Claudia Howell,

Respondents,

v.

D.R. Horton, Inc.,

Appellant,

AND

D.R. Horton, Inc.,

Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

Jenkins Plumbing Company, LLC, Caryl  
Mechanicals II, Inc., L&M Electric, Inc.,  
Unique Stone Creations, M&L General  
Construction, Inc., Alpha Omega Construction  
Group, Inc., and ASC Services and Supply, Inc.

Third-Party Defendants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

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

Likewise, with unanimity in *Damico*, even when a severability clause was contained *in an arbitration provision*, the Supreme Court declined to sever these unconscionable provisions contained within a broader “unconscionable, adhesive home construction contract” “as a matter of public policy.” *Damico*, 437 S.C. at 622, 879 S.E.2d at 760. “Honoring [a] severability clause” in circumstances much like those presented here “creates an incentive for . . . home builders to overreach, knowing that if the contract is found unconscionable, a narrower version will be substituted and enforced against an innocent, inexperienced homebuyer.” *Damico*, 437 S.C. at 622, 879 S.E.2d at 760. “Because most homebuyers simply comply with their arbitration agreements rather than challenging them in court . . . the law should provide a strong incentive for homebuilders not to overreach.” *Damico*, 437 S.C. at 623, 879 S.E.2d at 761 (internal substitutions omitted).

In *Huskins v. Mungo Homes, LLC*, 444 S.C. 592, 910 S.E.2d 474 (2024), the Supreme Court reemphasized the “public policy concerns *Damico* so eloquently expressed” and reiterated that the Court has “been *steadfast* in protecting home buyers from unscrupulous and overreaching terms.” *Id.* at 597, 910 S.E.2d at 477 (emphasis added).

The logic of *Simpson*, *Smith*, *Damico*, and *Huskins* applies with at least equal force here. “[D.R. Horton] insisted upon an adhesion contract so its terms could not be varied and would stick. [D.R. Horton] is stuck with that choice.” *Huskins*, 444 S.C. at 598, 910 S.E.2d at 478. Declining to sever the unconscionable terms here is a proportional response to D.R. Horton’s shortsighted reaction to *Smith*’s holding that it had a “clearly one-sided and oppressive” arbitration agreement that leaves new homebuyers with “no remedy at all.” *Smith*, 417 S.C. at 50, 790 S.E.2d at 5. In stating as much, the Court in *Damico* observed that when a “sophisticated” and “repeat transactor” inserts “terms [that] deliberately and egregiously exceed well-established rules” that a policy of

“refusing to replace overreaching contractual terms” “enhance[s]” “market efficiency.” *Huskins*, 444 S.C. at 598, 910 S.E.2d at 478 (internal citations omitted).<sup>4</sup> Nowhere is this type of consideration more acute than in litigation involving not just any homebuilder, but “America’s Largest Homebuilder” with an ever-looming presence in one of the Nation’s fastest growing states and a pattern of drafting adhesive contracts with one-sided and oppressive terms.

D.R. Horton may think that it can maintain its unconscionable contract provisions and that its contumacious approach to drafting will shield its behavior from meaningful judicial scrutiny. But it is mistaken. *Simpson, Smith, Damico*, and *Huskins* show that the lower court was correct in declining to sever unconscionable provisions of the arbitration agreement. Upholding the lower court’s decision here justly denies D.R. Horton the Court’s imprimatur on unfair business practices. On these grounds, this Court should decline to alter the lower court’s order and D.R. Horton’s appeal should be denied.

### **III. State Law Further Confirms the Lower Court Did Not Err.**

In its ruling, the lower court correctly determined that the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-10 *et seq.* (“SCUAA”) applied to this dispute. (Order, R. p. 8). Even still, the lower court reviewed the arbitration provision and Home Purchase Agreement applying the FAA and *Prima Paint* Doctrine. (*Id.*, pp. 8-9, 14). However, because this case is wholly intrastate in nature, the FAA, and thus, the *Prima Paint* Doctrine are inapplicable.

---

<sup>4</sup> When a dominant market player like D.R. Horton can shield itself from meaningful legal repercussions, it is not just its customers who suffer. For instance, other homebuilders and contractors (who do not insert such oppressive terms into their contracts) are at a distinct competitive disadvantage. And when large numbers of D.R. Horton’s tract homes suffer from systematic issues, property values (and appurtenant tax revenue) decrease because of actual or reputational damage to the homes in a community.

And, because, as explained below, South Carolina law offers additional grounds to sustain the lower court's ruling, D.R. Horton's appeal should be denied.

A. The Circuit Court Correctly Found that the Putative Arbitration Provision was Governed by South Carolina Law.

Defendant asserts that “[t]he Federal Arbitration Act [“FAA”] . . . applies to this dispute.” (D.R. Horton's Final Brief, p. 12). That is wrong. Instead, the lower court correctly applied the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10, *et seq.*, (“SCUAA”) in considering Appellant's motion to compel arbitration.

i. The Lower Court Correctly Concluded that the Home Purchase Agreement Did Not Implicate Interstate Commerce.

“[I]n order to activate the application of the FAA, the commerce involved in the contract must be interstate or foreign.” *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 454, 730 S.E.2d 312, 315–16 (2012); *see also* 2 S.C. Jur. Arbitration § 6 (“Interstate commerce is a necessary basis for application of the federal act, and a contract or agreement not so predicated *must be governed by state law.*”) (emphasis added).

In considering whether a “transaction involved interstate commerce” a court “must examine the terms of the [contract], the Complaint, and the surrounding facts.” *Bradley*, 398 S.C. at 455, 730 S.E.2d at 316. The “burden of proof” to “establish the involvement of interstate commerce” rests upon the moving party. *Id.* 398 S.C. at 458, 730 S.E.2d at 317–18.

Here the lower court found that “[a]t the time of the execution of the [Home Purchase Agreement] the [Residence] was already constructed by D.R. Horton.” (Order, R. p. 7). As a result, the lower court correctly concluded that the transaction between the Howells and D.R. Horton was intrastate in nature under the “well-established real estate exception to the FAA.” *Bradley*, 398 S.C. at 459, 730 S.E.2d at 318; *see also* Order, R. p. 8. The “real estate exception” provides that

“[n]otwithstanding its congenial effects on interstate commerce, the sale of residential real estate is inherently intrastate.” *Id.* at 457, 730 S.E.2d at 317 (quoting *Saneii v. Robards*, 289 F. Supp. 2d 855 (W.D. Ky. 2003)); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 595, 553 S.E.2d 110, 117–18 (2001) (“The development of land within South Carolina borders is the quintessential example of a purely intrastate activity.”). Thus, when the “essential character” of a transaction is “for the purchase of a completed residential dwelling and not the construction . . . the FAA does not apply.” *Bradley*, 398 S.C. at 459, 730 S.E.2d at 318.<sup>5</sup> Many other jurisdictions and scholars that have considered this question are in accord.<sup>6</sup>

Ample evidence supported the lower court’s finding that the Residence was already completed at the time the Home Purchase Agreement was signed. In response to D.R. Horton’s motion to compel arbitration, Respondents entered three sworn affidavits into evidence. The affidavit of Sherman Howell, one of the Respondents, provided, “[w]e bought the home *after it was constructed.*” (Affidavit of Sherman Howell, R. p. 310, ¶ 4) (emphasis added).

---

<sup>5</sup> Although not presented as an argument by D.R. Horton here, the commerce clause and thus the FAA are not implicated even when the sale of a home involves a warranty provided by a “national warranty company” or financing secured through “a national financial institution” as these are “tangential to the performance of the [transaction].” *Bradley*, 398 S.C. at 459, 730 S.E.2d at 318.

<sup>6</sup> *See, e.g., Garlock v. 3DS Properties, L.L.C.*, 303 Neb. 521, 531, 930 N.W.2d 503, 511 (2019) (citing *Bradley* and holding that “a simple contract for the sale of residential real estate is an inherently intrastate activity”); *Garrison v. Palmas del Mar Homeowners Ass’n*, 538 F. Supp. 2d 468 (D.P.R. 2008) (FAA generally does not apply to residential real estate transactions having no substantial or direct connection to interstate commerce); *SI V, L.L.C. v. V FMC Corp.*, 223 F. Supp. 2d 1059 (N.D. Cal. 2002) (agreement to sell real estate between in-state buyer and out-of-state seller did not involve interstate commerce); *Cecala v. Moore*, 982 F. Supp. 609 (N.D. Ill. 1997) (lack of out-of-state transactions incident to sale of real estate evidenced no interstate commerce); Craig Tompkins, *Jackson v. Shakespeare Foundation, Inc.: Can Florida Courts Circumvent Precedent Set by the Supreme Courts of the United States and Florida Regarding the Enforcement of Arbitration Provisions?*, 69 U. MIAMI L. REV. 1027, 1055 (2015) (“Congress has not expressed an intent to regulate one-off real estate transfers between two private parties.”).

Mr. Howell's testimony is corroborated by that of Thomas Simmons, a non-party to this action. Mr. Simmons' affidavit, along with its attachments, describes how months before the Howells purchased the Residence, Mr. Simmons and his wife entered into a similar purchase agreement with D.R. Horton while the Residence was still under construction, but later, backed out of that purchase after D.R. Horton repeatedly misled them that repairs made to the Residence were in compliance with the building code. (Affidavit of Thomas Simmons, R. p. 202, ¶ 2; R. p. 205, ¶¶ 20-21).

D.R. Horton did not meet its evidentiary burden by rebutting this sworn testimony with affidavits of its own before the lower court. Fatal to its position, it provided no direct evidence that the Residence was still under construction at the time the Howells signed the Home Purchase Agreement. *Cf. Dixon v. Pattee*, 442 S.C. 233, 254, 898 S.E.2d 158, 169 (Ct. App. 2023) (declining to find a home was already constructed at the time of purchase where plaintiffs did not "provide any affidavits or records in support, merely their attorneys' arguments.").

Instead, rather than rely on direct facts that the Residence was still under construction at the time the Home Purchase Agreement was entered into, D.R. Horton simply argues that the inclusion of the "Features and Options" form in the Home Purchase Agreement is dispositive. (D.R. Horton's Final Brief, pp. 8-9). But that is not the case. Nothing in the record suggests that these "options" were anything more than a recitation of features already installed in the Residence at the time the Howells signed the Home Purchase Agreement. In other words, the lower court was right to reject D.R. Horton's "attorney[s] arguments" when they were premised on no testimony in the record. *Dixon*, 442 S.C. at 254, 898 S.E.2d at 169. "[A] circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if *any evidence* reasonably supports the findings." *Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 22, 644 S.E.2d at 667 (emphasis added); *see also Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 49, 784

S.E.2d 679, 683 (Ct. App. 2016) (“if any evidence reasonably supports the circuit court’s factual findings, this court will not overrule those findings.”).

As a result, the trial court correctly determined that the dispute at issue here was intrastate in nature. Supported by sufficient i.e., “any evidence,” the lower court’s finding of facts should not be disturbed, and D.R. Horton’s appeal should be denied.

- ii. The Lower Court Correctly Found that the Home Purchase Agreement was Governed by South Carolina Arbitration Law.

Because the Home Purchase Agreement involved an intrastate transaction, the FAA does not apply here.<sup>7</sup> And, the lower court correctly concluded that the Home Purchase Agreement itself called for the application of South Carolina law, including the SCUAA, not the FAA.

Here, as D.R. Horton must concede, the “first page” of the Home Purchase Agreement contains the following text,

**NOTE: THIS CONTRACT PROVIDES FOR MANDATORY BINDING ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT, SECTIONS 14-48-10 ET SEQ.,<sup>8</sup> SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS (1976, AS AMENDED).**

(Home Purchase Agreement, R. p. 162) (emphasis original).

“Parties are free to enter into a contract providing for arbitration under rules established by state law rather than rules established by the FAA.” *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 592, 553 S.E.2d at 116.

---

<sup>7</sup> In line with the federalist nature of our system of government and the limits on Congress’s legislative power, the “federal arbitration statute is based upon *and confined to* the incontestable federal foundations of control over commerce and over admiralty.” *Prima Paint Corp.*, 388 U.S. at 405, 87 S. Ct. at 1806–07 (emphasis added). And, despite the U.S. Supreme Court’s “expansive interpretation of the FAA, the FAA does *not* reflect a congressional intent to occupy the entire field of arbitration.” *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 591, 553 S.E.2d at 115–16 (citing *Volt Info. Scis. Inc. v. Board of Trs.*, 489 U.S. 468, 109 S.Ct. 1248 (1989)). Consistent with this interpretation, “[t]he FAA preempt[s] an application of our state law to the extent it invalidate[s] [an] arbitration agreement, *if interstate commerce is involved.*” *Bradley*, 398 S.C. at 453–54, 730 S.E.2d at 315 (emphasis added).

<sup>8</sup> Miscited in the original.

The FAA does not prevent “the enforcement of agreements to arbitrate under different rules than those set forth in the [FAA] itself.” *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539 n.2, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 n.2 (2001) (citing *Volt Info. Sciences, Inc. v. Bd. of Trustees of Leland Stanford Jr. Univ.*, 489 U.S. 468, 478, 109 S. Ct. 1248, 1255 (1989) (substitution in *Munoz*). Indeed, “such a result would be inimical to the FAA’s primary purpose of ensuring that arbitration agreements are enforced according to their terms.” *Volt.*, 489 U.S. at 479, 109 S. Ct. at 1256. Put another way, “the dispositive question is whether the parties intended to be bound by federal or state arbitration law.” *Osteen v. T.E. Cuttino Const. Co.*, 315 S.C. 422, 426, 434 S.E.2d 281, 283 (1993).

Very recently, this Court found that when the “front page” of an agreement “states, underline and in all capital letters, that [it was subject to the SCUAA]” there could be “no ambiguity whether the parties intended to be bound by federal or state arbitration law.” *315 Corley CW LLC v. Palmetto Bluff Dev., LLC*, 444 S.C. 521, 529, 908 S.E.2d 892, 896 (Ct. App. 2024), reh'g denied (Nov. 13, 2024). When, as here, an agreement so “explicitly requires application of South Carolina arbitration law, [this Court] need not address any requirements for FAA coverage; instead . . . the SCUAA applies.” *Id.*

While acknowledging this Court’s very recent precedent, D.R. Horton attempts to create daylight between this Court’s holding and that of the Supreme Court in *Toler’s Cove Homeowners Ass’n v. Trident Constr. Co.*, 355 S.C. 605, 586 S.E.2d 581 (2003); (D.R. Horton’s Final Brief, p. 10). But D.R. Horton did not raise this contention before the lower court in its initial argument and did not file a Rule 59(e) motion either. Because this argument is raised for the first time on appeal, it should be disregarded. *See, e.g., Doe v. Doe*, 370 S.C. 206, 212, 634 S.E.2d 51, 55 (Ct. App. 2006) (“[W]hen an appellant neither raises an issue at trial nor through a Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.”).

Even if this were an issue properly preserved for appellate review (which it is not), as D.R. Horton concedes, in *Toler's Cove*, it was not in dispute that the “transaction involved interstate commerce and the FAA applied.” (D.R. Horton’s Final Brief, p. 10); *see also Toler's Cove*, 355 S.C. at 610, 586 S.E.2d at 584 (providing that “[t]he lower court, however, took judicial notice of the fact the agreement involves interstate commerce. This finding is the law of the case because neither party has taken issue with that finding.”). Thus the Supreme Court’s holding that “[t]he parties’ agreement” in *Toler's Cove*, did “not include a choice of law provision” was merely *obiter dictum* and not binding authority on this Court.<sup>9</sup>

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